**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2011-CP-10-9200

RECEIVED
FEB 03 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-001920

Mother Doe A.....Appellant,

v.

The Citadel.....Respondent.

And

Case No.: 2013-CP-10-6330

John Doe 201 and Jane Doe 201.....Appellants,

v.

The Citadel.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Allan P. Sloan, III
Joseph C. Wilson, IV
Kristen B. Fehsenfeld
PIERCE, HERNS, SLOAN & WILSON, LLC
321 East Bay St.
Charleston, SC 29401
(843)722-7733

Gregg Meyers, #9908
Jeffrey R. Anderson, pro hac vice pending

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONSTRUING THE SCOPE OF DAMAGES AVAILABLE FOR A PARENT'S CLAIM FOR LOSS OF HER CHILD'S SERVICES.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANT'S OUTRAGE AND CONSPIRACY CLAIMS BARRED BY THE TORT CLAIMS ACT.
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANT'S OUTRAGE CLAIM BARRED ON THE BASIS THAT NO CONDUCT WAS DIRECTED TOWARD APPELLANT.
- IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF LOSS OF SERVICES AND OUTRAGE DAMAGES RESULTING FROM THE CITADEL'S CONDUCT.
- V. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING NO EVIDENCE OF SPECIAL DAMAGES TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S CONSPIRACY CLAIM.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves two of six consolidated cases¹ filed against The Citadel arising out of the sexual abuse and molestation of numerous child victims by former cadet and Citadel employee, Louis "Skip" ReVille. As the parents of children who were sexually molested by ReVille, Appellants brought these actions stating claims under state and federal law against The Citadel after discovering numerous actions undertaken by Citadel officials throughout a six year period to conceal knowledge of ReVille's dangerous propensities. Repeated rule violations by ReVille, reports of inappropriate behavior concerning ReVille, and a 2007 complaint from a victim who directly reported being sexually abused by ReVille were ignored and concealed as part of a "close hold" policy which assisted ReVille to avoid detection and, ultimately, created the opportunity for ReVille to abuse Appellants' children.

¹ The following cases are consolidated with the instant cases for purposes of discovery: John Doe Camper v. The Citadel, C/A No. 2012-CP-10-1860; John Doe 2 v. The Citadel, C/A No. 2012-CP-10-1858; Mother Doe 2, on behalf of, John Doe 3 v. The Citadel, C/A No. 2012-CP-10-1859; Camper Doe 6 v. The Citadel, C/A No. 013-CP-10-5247; and John Doe, a minor, by his Guardian Ad Litem, John Roe v. The Citadel, C/A No. 2013-CP-10-4770.

While the Citadel took no action to inform law enforcement, child protective services, or its own Title IX Coordinator about any of the allegations between 2001 and 2007, Citadel officials instead took affirmative steps to alert ReVille to the 2007 complaint, to advise him to "lie low," and to ensure ReVille's Citadel employment file reflected none of the multiple complaints against him. As a result, The Citadel assisted ReVille to trade on his Citadel reputation to gain employment as a tennis and basketball instructor in Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina, which gave ReVille access, at different times, to groom and abuse Appellants' children on multiple instances.

Appellant Mother Doe A filed the instant matter on December 14, 2011, alleging claims of gross negligence/failure to warn; negligent hiring, retention and supervision; civil conspiracy; outrage; and loss of services.² Appellants John Doe 201 and Jane Doe 201 followed with similar claims. The parties have stipulated that the claims made by the Doe 201 parents are similar to the claims made by Mother Doe A, distinguished only by the Doe 201 parents having out of pocket expenses for their child's post-abuse mental health and medical treatment. The Doe 201 parents alleged, "[t]he Plaintiffs have incurred costs for treating their child, for providing their child professional care while maintaining his anonymity, and have lost the services of their child"

On March 6, 2014, The Citadel filed summary judgment motions in the cases of John Doe Camper v. The Citadel, Case No. 2012-CP-10-1860; John Doe 2 v. The Citadel, Case No. 2012-CP-10-1858; and Mother Doe 2 on behalf of John Doe 3 v. The Citadel, Case No. 2012-CP-10-1859, asserting several arguments critical to all plaintiffs in the consolidated matters, including, but not limited to, the following grounds: (1) that The Citadel owed no duty of care to plaintiffs; (2) that plaintiffs' claims involve a single occurrence as defined by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act ("SCTCA") so as to limit each plaintiff's potential recovery to the SCTCA limit of \$300,000;

² Plaintiff's Amended Complaint also alleged claims under the Jessica Horton Act and Mandatory Reporting Statute, which have since been dropped.

and (3) that certain plaintiffs' claims are barred by the two-year statute of limitations of the SCTCA. (See Citadel's Motions for Summary Judgment). Given the common issues of law and fact underlying the consolidated matters, Appellant Mother Doe A, while not a party to the March 6, 2014 motions, filed a memorandum in opposition to The Citadel's motion. (See Memorandum in Opposition).

On April 18, 2014, the court heard arguments on The Citadel's summary judgment motions as to Plaintiff's John Doe Camper, John Doe 2, and Mother Doe 2. While ruling in favor of Plaintiffs as to the statute of limitations, the court took under advisement the issue of whether The Citadel owed a common law duty of care to Plaintiffs. Consequently, Mother Doe A filed a Reply Brief on April 25, 2014, addressing the issues of "specific threat of harm" and other factual disputes concerning the duty argument. (See Memorandum in Opposition and Reply Brief of Plaintiffs Mother Doe A, Camper Doe 6 and John Doe to Citadel's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment as to John Doe Camper, John Doe 2 & Mother Doe 2). Following a supplemental hearing on the issue of duty, the Court denied The Citadel's motion for summary judgment in its entirety. The summary judgment determination as to the issue of duty was deemed to apply to all six consolidated cases, including the instant case.

On May 2, 2014, The Citadel filed a summary judgment motion in the present case, arguing:

- (1) The Citadel owed no common law or statutory duty of care to Plaintiff;
- (2) Mother Doe A has no evidence of cognizable damages or, in the alternative, that her recovery is limited to out of pocket medical expenses and loss of services;
- (3) Mother Doe A's claims are barred by S.C. Code § 15-78-110, the two-year statute of limitations of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act;

- (4) The Plaintiff's outrage claim is barred by 15-78-30(f) and by the presence of "other potential remedies;"
- (5) Mother Doe A "cannot proffer a scintilla of evidence that The Citadel acted with the requisite level of culpability for an outrage claim; and
- (6) The Plaintiff's claims involve a single "occurrence" as defined by the TCA, limited to a potential recovery to \$300,000.

Because Appellant obtained a favorable ruling on the duty issue in the previous motion, the court held a hearing solely on the issue of loss of services on September 22, 2014. On September 24, 2014, the Court issued a Form 4 order denying Defendant's motion, followed by a formal written order entered on December 1, 2014.

The case proceeded to trial on January 26, 2015. At the commencement of jury selection, Defendant filed a Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment, asserting the following grounds previously denied by the December 1, 2014 Order:

- (1) Plaintiff's claims fail because she has not sustained any proximately caused injury recoverable under South Carolina law (*i.e.* loss of services);
- (2) The Citadel did not owe a duty of care to Mother Doe A; and
- (3) The South Carolina Tort Claims Act bars Plaintiff's outrage and civil conspiracy claims.

A hearing on the Renewed Motion was held the next morning, during which the court determined that summary judgment on the first and third grounds asserted was appropriate—a ruling which in effect reversed the court's previous order denying summary judgment on these same grounds. The second issue—the issue of duty—was not addressed given the court's previous rulings denying summary judgment on that ground. The parties stipulated that the outcome of this case determines

the outcome of John Doe 201 and Jane Doe 201 v. The Citadel, which is reflected in the Rule 59(e) motion filed after receipt of the trial court's order. ("The parties stipulate that the rationale of the Mother Doe A order applies to the intangible injuries and tangible costs also incurred by the Doe 201 parents for treating their child."). When that Rule 59(e) motion was denied, this appeal followed.

For the reasons stated herein, the circuit court committed reversible error in granting summary judgment on the issues of loss of services, conspiracy and outrage, and the matter should be remanded for trial.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellants are the parents of John Doe A and Doe 201, two of numerous child victims sexually abused by ReVille. The sexual abuse of John Doe A and Doe 201 occurred after The Citadel was on notice that ReVille had displayed a sexual interest in children, and that he had, in fact, abused other children on The Citadel campus.

The events giving rise to John Doe A and Doe 201's abuse date back to ReVille's time at The Citadel Summer Camp, a residential summer camp operated by The Citadel for children ages ten to fifteen. ReVille, who served as Head Counselor in Charge of Quarters in 2001 and Senior Counselor for the summers of 2002 and 2003, repeatedly violated Citadel and Camp policy to sexually abuse and molest at least seventeen boys during the summers of 2001, 2002, and 2003. Throughout this time, The Citadel turned a blind eye to inappropriate conduct, policy violations, and Citadel procedures requiring termination and reporting of sexual assault, sexual abuse, sexual harassment, sexual misconduct, and immoral and illegal conduct.

During ReVille's first summer at The Camp, The Citadel was notified that a highly regarded volunteer counselor, former Citadel Cadet, Citadel Graduate and United States Marine

Corps Captain, Michael Arpaio, had sexually abused and molested a ten-year old male camper in his dorm room during the course of The Camp's First Session. In addition, The Citadel learned that campers attending The Camp had been exposed to pornography, profanity, alcohol, and inappropriate touching. The Citadel was later informed that additional minor campers were sexually abused by Michael Arpaio while attending The Camp between 1995 and 2000.

Following the criminal investigation of the Arpaio matter, Sergeant Dale Middleton of the Charleston Police Department advised The Citadel by letter dated August 8, 2001, of certain activities and practices occurring at The Camp that warranted attention. These activities and practices included counselors allowing campers to leave their rooms at night, campers watching movies and sleeping in the same bed as counselors, counselors engaging in sexual conversation in the presence of campers, campers viewing alcohol and tobacco products belonging to counselors in the barracks, and counselors taking campers off campus on unrelated camp functions without parental consent. (Middleton Letter, August 8, 2001). Sergeant Middleton indicated in his letter that "[t]hese are the most serious findings that were brought to [his] attention during [his] investigation," and concluded the correspondence with an invitation to The Citadel to contact him regarding the matter. (Middleton Letter at 1). However, no one at The Citadel ever contacted Sergeant Middleton regarding the letter, his concerns, or the other findings that warranted attention. Rather, following notice of Arpaio's acts of sexual abuse at The Camp and of the concerning practices and activities highlighted in Sergeant Middleton's letter, The Citadel neglected to implement new policies and procedures to eliminate the threat of harm posed by child sexual predators and instead placed increased emphasis on the pre-existing anti-cohabitation policy which prohibited counselors from being alone with a minor behind closed doors.

After the abuses perpetrated by Arpaio, The Citadel opened its doors for the second camp session of 2001. Initially, increased emphasis was placed by staff on The Camp's long standing rule restricting counselors from being alone with minors behind closed doors. But within days, The Camp reverted back to operating as it had in the past—with "laxity." According to ReVille, "After I saw that everything was going back to the laxity – the laxity that this was before, then I started – I resumed my selecting and grooming the campers." (ReVille Deposition at 152:7-11). In fact, ReVille admitted to committing at least a dozen acts of abuse during the month long session immediately following Arpaio's termination. (ReVille Deposition at 152:21-23). Absent additional safety precautions, ReVille, like Arpaio, was able to utilize The Camp to sexually abuse and molest at least seventeen boys during the summers of 2001, 2002 and 2003. Throughout this time, The Citadel turned a blind eye to inappropriate conduct, policy violations, and Citadel procedures requiring termination and reporting of sexual assault, sexual abuse, sexual harassment, sexual misconduct, and immoral and illegal conduct.

Camp Director Major Bill Bates, Deputy Director Jennifer Garrott, Colonel John Lackey, Commandant General Emory Mace, and others were aware of ReVille's deviant, pedophilic tendencies as early as 2001, wherein it was noted that ReVille was "senior counselor material *if learns to distance himself from campers . . .*" (2001 Employee Evaluation). These individuals, as well as other Citadel officials and staff, were likewise aware of ReVille's policy and code of conduct violations and knew, or should have known, that ReVille was sexually harassing, molesting and abusing The Camp's minor campers on The Citadel campus.

In particular, during the summer of 2002, The Camp's Deputy Director, Jennifer Garrott, caught ReVille alone with a minor camper in his dorm room. Both Garrott and Camp Director Major Bates discussed the issue with ReVille, but declined to reprimand or terminate his

employment despite established policies and procedures requiring immediate termination for such a violation. Additionally, neither Garrott nor Bates followed up with the minor camper or other counselors to investigate any inappropriate or suspicious behavior involving ReVille and minor campers, and no written report of ReVille's infraction was ever recorded in his employee file. Instead, when faced with notice of ReVille's inappropriate behavior, The Citadel took no action, and as a result, at least four young boys were sexually abused and molested by ReVille at The Camp in 2002.

In 2003, ReVille was asked back to The Camp to again serve as Senior Counselor.³ At least six times during the 2003 Camp, ReVille was confronted by Camp staff member, Anna Bronk, for violating the rules against having minors in his room at night. However, no formal action was taken and laxity continued to reign over enforcement of the rules.

Furthermore, in July 2003, at the beginning of The Camp's Second Session, Camp Director Garrott caught ReVille alone in his room rubbing "Icy-Hot" on the leg of a minor identified in this litigation as Camper Doe 6 or Doe 6. Upon discovering ReVille and Doe 6 alone, Garrott ignored, neglected and disregarded The Camp's policy requiring immediate termination for such behavior and further neglected to even draft a report or memorandum to document the violation. (ReVille Deposition, 163:10-164:4). ReVille, who at the time had not yet succeeded in abusing Camper Doe 6, went on to abuse Doe 6 repeatedly and on numerous separate occasions throughout the remainder of the three-week camp session. ReVille has since stated that he considered his conduct in applying the sports cream to be "a sexual act." (Deposition of ReVille, Volume III at 559:2-5).

³ Notably, ReVille was hired as Senior Counselor despite a clearly deficient application which The Citadel's own experts agree was cause for concern. (2003 Application, referencing as qualifications: "5'11"; brown hair; brown eyes; athletic; can cook; recite poetry; dance; enjoys walks on the beach."; Shapiro Deposition, p. 185-187; Margolis Deposition, p. 226-228)

Despite declining to take appropriate remedial action at the time, Garrott now concedes that, pursuant to Camp and Citadel policies and procedures, ReVille should have been terminated immediately, the incident should have been recorded in ReVille's permanent file, and a written report should have been drafted and circulated regarding the matter. Garrott has likewise conceded that had ReVille been terminated, Doe 6 would not have been subjected to ReVille's sexual abuse and molestation. (Deposition of Jennifer Garrott, p. 57:10-13).

In the summer of 2005, Doe 6 returned to work at The Camp as a Junior Counselor. After completing pre-camp counselor training in June of 2005, which included a section on mandatory reporting of child sexual abuse, Doe 6 felt compelled to report ReVille's sexual abuse to Director Garrott. However, as soon as Doe 6 explained to Garrott that he wanted to talk about "Skip ReVille," her demeanor immediately changed. She abruptly called off the meeting, claiming she had another obligation. No less than an hour later, Doe 6 was fired and instructed to leave the premises within two hours. (Deposition of Camper Doe 6, p. 142-144). Because Citadel and Camp policy would require reports of sexual abuse to be disclosed to Citadel Public Safety and other appropriate law enforcement agencies, The Citadel chose to terminate Doe 6 without just cause to avoid the damaging ramifications such a report could have on the college.

In 2007, The Citadel received yet another report of abuse regarding ReVille—this time involving multiple children. Specifically, on April 23, 2007, the father of a former camper called President John W. Rosa and reported that his son had been sexually abused while attending The Camp in 2002. The call was forwarded to Mark Brandenburg, The Citadel's General Counsel, who followed up with the former camper ("Camper Doe" or "Doe") that evening. The abuse reported by Doe was subsequently memorialized in a letter from Brandenburg to The Citadel's

insurance carrier, the Internal Reserve Fund ("IRF"), and copied to President Rosa. The letter, dated May 16, 2007, stated:

Both allege that during one summer, [Doe] and another camper were coerced by a counselor into the counselor's room, where the counselor showed them pornographic movies and convinced them to masturbate. [Doe] alleges the counselor watched the movies and masturbated as well. Importantly, however, [Doe] specifically said that the counselor never touched him or the other camper. [Doe] does allege that the counselor *engaged in this activity frequently, though, and with many other campers.*

The letter further noted that Doe's father "wanted the school to know about this incident and to know that an apparent predator was once affiliated with the school." (May 16, 2007 Letter to IRF).

Despite the gravity of Camper Doe's allegations and Citadel policy and state and federal law mandating reporting to law enforcement, Brandenburg performed an integral part of a "close hold" policy instituted by President Rosa to conceal the allegations of suspected child sexual abuse within a small group of Rosa's subordinates for the purposes of protecting the reputation of The Citadel and insulating ReVille from detection. (Deposition of Jennifer Shiel, at pp. 35:16-37:19, 46:12-50:4, stating the report was intentionally concealed among the highest ranking officials and was labeled "close hold."): By withholding the abuse from those outside the President's office, other Citadel staff who were mandatory reporters of child abuse, or who otherwise were required to report, or would have reported, the allegations to law enforcement, were not given the opportunity to do so. Taking part in this overt policy worked to directly set in motion a series of actions undertaken by Brandenburg and others within Rosa's staff that ultimately created the opportunity for ReVille to harm the Plaintiff's child.

Among such actions was an internal investigation undertaken by Brandenburg. Notably, Brandenburg's decision to investigate was in contravention of Title IX and the Department of Education's recommendation warning against school attorneys performing Title IX investigations.

(Dear Colleague Letter at p. 7). As part of this investigation, Brandenburg met with ReVille and Colonel Trez on April 24, 2007. During this meeting, Brandenburg and Trez alerted ReVille to the allegations of abuse against him and instructed him to stay off campus and "lay low." (May 21, 2013 Affidavit of Skip ReVille). Within thirty (30) minutes of this meeting, ReVille contacted two eyewitnesses identified by Doe and specifically instructed them to remain silent about the abuse if contacted by Brandenburg or any other individual investigating the abuse. (Deposition of ReVille Vol II, 326:19-327:6).

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