THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
In The Court of Common Pleas

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001920

RECEIVED

APR 26 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Mother Doe A .....Appellant,

v.

The Citadel .....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

M. Dawes Cooke, Esq.  
Randell C. Stoney, Jr., Esq.  
John W. Fletcher, Esq.  
Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC  
288 Meeting Street, Suite #200 (29401)  
Post Office Drawer H  
Charleston, South Carolina 29402-0197  
(843) 577-7700  
*Attorneys for Respondent*

Allan P. Sloan, III, Esq.  
Joseph C. Wilson, IV, Esq.  
Kristen B. Fehsenfeld, Esq.

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. Standard of Review**

Summary judgment is proper when it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Summary judgment should be granted when plain, palpable, and undisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. In order to resist a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing genuine issues necessitating trial. Once a party moving for summary judgment carries the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the nonmoving party's case, the nonmoving party may not simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings.

*NationsBank v. Scott Farm*, 320 S.C. 299, 303, 465 S.E.2d 98, 100 (Ct. App. 1995) (internal citations omitted). “[A] court cannot ignore facts unfavorable to th[e non-moving] party and must determine whether a verdict for the party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the facts.” *Stewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 341 S.C. 143, 533 S.E.2d 597, 600 (Ct. App. 2000).

It is not sufficient that one create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine. The judge is not required to single out some one morsel of evidence and attach to it great significance when patently the evidence is introduced solely in a vain attempt to create an issue of fact that is not genuine [or material].

*Priest v. Brown*, 302 S.C. 405, 396 S.E.2d 638 (Ct. App. 1990) (citations omitted). “[W]hen plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted.” *See Logan v. Cherokee Landscaping & Grading Co.*, 389 S.C. 611, 617 n.4, 698 S.E.2d 879, 882 n.4 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation omitted).

When the underlying action requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence, the non-movant must submit a "scintilla of evidence" to survive summary judgment. *See Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

“An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court.” *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 301, 501 S.E.2d 746, 749 (Ct. App. 1998). This Court "may affirm the grant of summary judgment on any ground found in the record." *See Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 229, 644 S.E.2d 740, 750 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Rule 220(c), S.C.A.C.R. ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.")); accord Rule 208(b)(2) ("Respondent's brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c).").

**II. As to All Causes of Action, the Trial Judge Properly Held That Mother Did Not Sustain Any Actionable Damages**

**A. The Supreme Court Has Limited a Parent's Recoverable Damages to Medical Expenses and Pecuniary Harm From Loss of Services**

**1. Mother's Claimed Damages**

Mother does not contend that ReVille abused her or that she suffered any direct injury as a result of The Citadel's conduct. Rather, Mother claims that The Citadel failed to prevent ReVille from abusing *her son*, and that she sustained harm as a result of the abuse of her son. ReVille did not abuse Mother in any way, and she sustained no direct harm from The Citadel's alleged negligence.

In her discovery responses, Mother has stated that she seeks to recover the following elements of damages:

**ANSWER:** Expenses have been incurred for therapy for her child and herself, as indicated above. [ ]In addition to out of pocket costs, there are intangible injuries. [H]er child has become less participatory with family activities. He is now more easily angered, especially with his siblings. His mother has observed his mood fluctuating between periods of solitude and exclusion, fits of rage, guilt, and deep-seated betrayal. She believes he now has anger management issues that he did not have before the abuse. For a number of years the sexual abuse resulted in "secret" keeping that puts the family in a no-win situation with regard to the other siblings in the family, as information about the abuse must either be spread more broadly

among those family members or a certain level of ambiguity has to be maintained about the problems now posed for her son's interaction with family members.

Mother Doe's brother, her child's uncle, has commented on her child's antisocial behavior which has led to very awkward, and heated conversations between Mother Doe A and her brother, who does not understand the impact of abuse on her child's psyche and how it has eroded his ability to trust people in positions of authority. Mother Doe A has observed that her son's abuse has changed the family's dynamic, and caused, among other things, Mother Doe A's brother to visit less frequently.

(See R. pp. 0908-09 ¶ 10 and R. pp. 0911-12 ¶ 16). However, Mother never identified any charges for medical treatment or counseling. She has never presented evidence of a single bill or payment of any medical bill.

In a correspondence with counsel for The Citadel, Mother's counsel elaborated on the damages she seeks to recover:

Mother Doe A's damages are those permitted in various cases for loss of services. Past South Carolina cases have acknowledged claims for a parent's "shame, humiliation, and mental anguish," and "outrage and deprivation," and "the insult offered to [a parent's] feeling," and "the agony in the destruction of his hopes concerning his child," and the effect on the child's "companionship." These are intangibles, and jurors have been quite serious about the value of those intangibles.

Mother Doe A knows her son was abused by Reville, and knows her child held that secret for a number of years. The Mother also has complications among her other children as a result of the abuse to this son, some of which was testified to by Chet Williams.

Mother Doe A knows the probable emotional/psychological effects of child sexual abuse (see Margolis powerpoint slide - denial, anger, depression, social and family withdrawal, detachment, loss of caring, reduced ability to express emotions, loss of self-esteem, loss of trust in others including parents, guilt, shame, substance abuse and suicidal ideation). There are many instances where Mother Doe A's son refused to talk to her for long periods. He has been resisting therapy because he was angry that his intention to keep this secret was uncovered by the police investigation. His plan to keep silent about Reville reflects his shame and denial, burdens the Mother is keenly aware that her child was bearing alone. He has been withdrawn from her and other family members and has shown loss of caring about her and other family members.

So we have a Mother who sees several of the known sexual abuse effects in her son and a son who is in denial and refuses therapy. The pre-Reville mother/son relationship is gone forever, and she will now forever carry the justifiable concern for the increased risk of future harms that her son will be more susceptible to in the long-term. She has an at many times angry son who withdraws from her and others, having had his caring relationships with his Mother and his family affected. She is also aware that he has an increased risk for complications for his own relationships and future problems to deal with as a result of the abuse. Mother Doe A desperately wants him to get help but he refuses and this causes more damage to the relationship, and burdens her. One only need look at Camper Doe 6 who made it to college on a scholarship and soon after his life went into a 8 year downward spiral of drugs, depression and suicide attempt – all related directly to the abuse of Skip Reville.

Mother Doe A is left with the choice every time she sees her son - do I bring up getting help and further damage our relationship or just watch him slip away as other effects start to show up? How is a mother supposed to talk to her son about the disgusting acts detailed by Reville in the Burke records? How can a mother enjoy companionship with her son when he is angry, withdrawn, doesn't care about his family like he used to and refuses to get any help for the underlying problem which is the Reville abuse? Every parent will understand going from good relationship and companionship with their child to years of the opposite with no end in sight. Those would be among the damages. Essentially, because of The Citadel's assistance to Reville, the Mother now has a never-ending complication with this child, and her other children, as the time-bomb elements of sexual abuse can re-occur at any time later in life.

(See R. pp. 0922-23). In other words, Mother seeks to recover for the indirect emotional harm she sustained as a result of the abuse of her son and the resultant impact on the familial relationship. She seeks to recover damages for the emotional harm she suffered from the abuse of her son.

**2. The South Carolina Supreme Court Has Limited Mother's Recoverable Damages, and She Does Not Seek Such Recoverable Damages**

South Carolina law has consistently held that a parent may recover only two types of damages for an injury caused to a child: (a) medical expenses paid for the treatment of the child's injuries; and (b) the pecuniary value of the loss of the child's services caused by the injury. See *Wright v. Colleton County School District*, 301 S.C. 282, 391 S.E.2d

564 (1990) (holding that medical expenses and lost services may be recoverable under South Carolina Tort Claims Act). Importantly, no modern South Carolina court has construed "loss of services" to encompass a parent's intangible or emotional/psychic damages stemming from harm to a child. Mother's contentions in this appeal would rewrite tort damages law and dramatically expand the scope of potential liability for defendants.

In *Doe v. Greenville County School District*, 375 S.C. 63, 651 S.E.2d 305 (2007), the Supreme Court defined the bounds of a parent's damages for injury to a child. There, parents sued a school district, alleging that a substitute teacher had engaged in a sexual relationship with their minor daughter. The Court concluded that South Carolina did *not* recognize a parent's claim for the loss of the consortium or companionship of a child:

The dissent would find that parents have a common law right to sue for loss of filial consortium despite the clear distinctions between a parent's claim for loss of services and a spouse's claim for loss of consortium found in our previous jurisprudence. The cases which the dissent utilizes to support its conclusion that filial consortium claims existed at common law directly address parental claims for loss of services, not loss of filial consortium. See *Wright v. Colleton County*, 301 S.C. 282, 289, 391 S.E.2d 564, 569 (1990) (providing that a parent's claim for loss of services and medical expenses resulting from the injury of a minor child is within the tort claims act statutory definition of "loss"); see also, e.g., *Berger v. Charleston Consol. Ry. Gas & Elec. Co.*, 93 S.C. 372, 76 S.E. 1096 (1913) (addressing a father's action for medical expenses and loss of services of his injured child). As discussed above, our common law only allowed a parent to maintain an action for the loss of a child's *services and earning capacity*. *These common law claims [for loss of services] did not include the intangible losses of aid, companionship, and society which have traditionally defined loss of consortium claims*. Accordingly, in absence of some action from the legislature, this Court has no authority upon which it could rely in finding that South Carolina law recognizes claims for loss of filial consortium.

See *id.*, 375 S.C. at 69-70, 651 S.E.2d at 308 (emphasis added).

This statement of the law governing recoverable parental damages is consistent with the Restatement's formulation. See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 703 ("One who by reason of his tortious conduct is liable to a minor child for illness or other bodily harm

is subject to liability to (a) the parent who is entitled to the child's services for any resulting loss of services or ability to render services, and to (b) the parent who is under a legal duty to furnish medical treatment for any expenses reasonably incurred or likely to be incurred for the treatment during the child's minority.").

This should end the inquiry in this case (and it did in the trial court), as there is binding authority directly on point. Mother is simply not permitted to plead, prove or recover the damages she seeks here. Her claimed harm takes the form of injury to her emotional well-being and intangible harm to her relationship with her son. These damages, however Mother might characterize them, are for loss of filial consortium and prohibited by the Supreme Court.

**a. Greenville County Is Not Dictum**

Mother would minimize relevant portions of *Greenville County* by calling them "historically inaccurate *dicta*."<sup>2</sup> (See Pl.'s Init. Br., at 18).

This Court has been clear that "*dicta*" includes only those statements by a court that are not relevant to the issue decided:

Judicial *dicta* is "not essential to the decision." Black's Law Dictionary 465 (7th ed.1999). *Dicta* or, as it is also known, *dictum* "is a statement on a matter not necessarily involved in the case, and is not binding as

---

<sup>2</sup>

As former Chief Judge Sanders observed about *dicta*:

We fully recognize that our opinion from this point on is no more than *dictum*. As everyone knows, *dictum* technically does not count because it is outside of what is necessary in resolving a matter. See 12 WORDS AND PHRASES, "Dictum," (1954). *But those who disregard dictum, either in law or in life, do so at their peril.* We are reminded of the apocryphal story of a duel which was about to take place in a saloon. One of the antagonists was an unimposing little man, thin as a rail — but a professional gunfighter. The other was a big bellicose fellow who tipped the scales at 300 pounds. "This ain't fair," said the big man, backing off. "He's shooting at a larger target." The little man quickly moved to resolve the matter. Turning to the saloon keeper, he said, "Chalk out a man of my size on him. Anything of mine that hits outside the line don't count." See P. Trachtman, *The Gunfighters* (1974).

*Yaeger v. Murphy*, 291 S.C. 485, 490 n. 2, 354 S.E.2d 393, 396 n. 2 (Ct. App. 1987) (emphasis added).

authority. *Dictum* is an opinion expressed by a court, but which, not being necessarily involved in the case, is not the court's decision.” 21 C.J.S. Courts § 227 (2006).

*See Nash v. Tindall Corp.*, 375 S.C. 36, 40-41, 650 S.E.2d 81, 83 (Ct. App. 2007); *accord Dennis v. South Carolina Nat'l Bank*, 299 S.C. 34, 39, 382 S.E.2d 237, 240 (Ct. App. 1988) (construing case language as *dicta* because it was “an expression or statement by the court on a matter not necessarily involved in the case nor necessary to a decision thereof”).

The relevant language from *Greenville County* is not *dicta*, as the Court there expressly stated that its holding was that a parent may not recover intangible losses from harm to a child: “[b]ecause Mr. and Mrs. Mother's loss of consortium claim is *based entirely upon their allegation of a change in their relationship with their child* and not a claim for loss of services, *we hold* that the trial court did not err in dismissing Mr. and Mrs. Doe's claim for loss of filial consortium.” *See id.*, 375 S.C. at 70, 651 S.E.2d at 308-09 (emphasis added). In other words, the analysis upon which The Citadel relies forms the very basis for the Court's decision in *Greenville County*. While Mother might disagree with the Supreme Court, the cited language from *Greenville County* not *dicta*, it is binding authority upon this Court. Unless and until the South Carolina Supreme Court overrules *Greenville County*, it is the law of the state.

**b. Greenville County Is Consistent with the Common Law**

Mother argues that *Greenville County* does not foreclose her claims, as she seeks to recover permissible “loss of service” that have been recoverable under ancient common law:

This case, by contrast, directly concerns the ancient common law cause of action known as loss of services, and thereby requires the court to address the historically inaccurate *dicta* in *Doe v. GCSD*, which states:

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